Case No. 67120

Electronically Filed May 05 2015 09:24 a.m. <u>Tracie K. Lindeman</u> Clerk of Supreme Court

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

## SHELDON G. ADELSON,

Appellant,

vs.

# DAVID A. HARRIS; MARC R. STANLEY; AND NATIONAL JEWISH DEMOCRATIC COUNCIL,

Respondents.

# **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

MORRIS LAW GROUP Steve Morris, Bar No. 1543 Rosa Solis-Rainey, Bar No. 7921 900 Bank of America Plaza 300 South Fourth Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 Telephone: (702) 474-9400 Facsimile: (702) 474-9422

Attorneys for Appellant Sheldon G. Adelson

# **Rule 26.1 Disclosure**

# JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court's jurisdiction is established by the Court's March 19, 2015 Order accepting two certified questions from the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit under NRAP 5.

# **ISSUES PRESENTED**

This Court has accepted the following questions:

1. Does a hyperlink to source material about judicial proceedings in an online petition suffice to qualify as a report for purposes of applying the common law fair report privilege?

Appellant, the Plaintiff in federal court, respectfully submits that the answer is no. The online "petition" at issue here accused Plaintiff of taking "Dirty Money" from "PROSTITUTION" and did not discuss or even mention any judicial proceeding. The mere presence of an unexplained hyperlink, obscured by Defendants' own presentation and wording, does not transform their petition into a "report," let alone a "fair" report, of a judicial proceeding.

2. Did Nevada's anti-strategic litigation against public participation ("anti-SLAPP") statute, NRS 41.635-.670, as that statute was in effect prior to the most recent amendments in 2013, cover speech that seeks to influence an election but that is not addressed to a government agency?

On this issue as well, Plaintiff submits that the answer is no. Prior to the 2013 amendments, the anti-SLAPP statute was limited to communications in furtherance of the "right to petition" the government, as this Court confirmed in *John v. Douglas County School Dist.*, 125 Nev. 746, 219 P.3d 1276 (2009). The 2013 amendments expanded the statute to encompass communications in furtherance of the separate right of free speech, but the legislative history confirms that the amendments were an

expansion of the statute, not a clarification. In any event, while the legislature could amend the statute prospectively, it could not retroactively override this Court's construction of the statute in *John*.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

**Defendants' On-Line "Petition."** Plaintiff-Appellant Sheldon G. Adelson ("Plaintiff") is the Chairman, CEO, and major shareholder of Las Vegas Sands Corporation ("LVSC"). JA22 ¶ 4.<sup>1</sup> LVSC owns the Venetian Casino in Las Vegas, and one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries (Sands China Limited or "SCL") owns a casino in Macau. JA23 ¶ 16. Plaintiff finds the practice of prostitution "morally abhorrent" (JA53), and he has therefore directed his companies to adopt a "no tolerance" policy toward prostitution in their casinos here and abroad. JA30 ¶ 63. In addition, Plaintiff and his wife, Dr. Miriam Adelson, have established clinics dedicated to drug-abuse treatment and research to break the cycle of addiction that can lead women into prostitution. JA23-24 ¶¶ 17–21.

This case concerns two statements published by Defendant-Respondents Harris, Stanley and the National Jewish Democratic Council ("NJDC") (collectively "Defendants"). JA22 ¶¶ 5-8. The first is a full-color graphic "Petition" (JA38) that Defendants published on or about July 3, 2012, on the NJDC's website (JA24 ¶ 23). The Petition, which bore the title "**Tell Romney to Reject Adelson's Dirty Money**" (JA38), is reproduced in its original form below:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "JA" refers to the Joint Appendix the parties filed in the Second Circuit (Dkts. 52-53, 68-69). "SA" refers to the Special Appendix filed by Plaintiff in the Second Circuit (Dkt. 51). This brief refers to the Second Circuit record as required by this Court's March 19, 2015 Order (page 2 n.1).

# Tell Romney to Reject Adelson's Dirty Money



As you saw during the Republican primaries, GOP mega-donor Sheldon Adelson dumped millions of dollars into supporting Newt Gingrich's feckless campaign. **Now he's doing the same for Mitt Romney – with no plans to stop**. But perhaps the most alarming aspect of Adelson's potentially unlimited contributions is where the money comes from.

It's well known that Adelson makes tremendous sums of money through his casinos in China which – according to 2008 Republican presidential candidate <u>Senator John McCain (AZ)</u> -means that Chinese **"foreign money" (to quote McCain) is flooding our political system**. But this week, reports surfaced that in addition to his anti-union and allegedly <u>corrupt business</u> <u>practices</u>, Adelson "<u>personally approved</u>" of prostitution in his Macau casinos.

Given these reports, **Romney and the rest of the Republican Party must cease accepting Adelson's tainted money**  **immediately**. Sign NJDC's petition below, and click here to share the image above on Facebook to help spread the word.

Already signed? Click here to enlist your family and friends in the effort to stop the influence of Adelson's tainted money and protect our democracy.<sup>2</sup>

As shown above, the Petition featured a large graphic, with an image of Plaintiff's face on the left and an image of Mitt Romney's face on the right. JA38. Between the two images was text that read, in part, "IF ONE OF YOUR BIGGEST DONORS . . . REPORTEDLY APPROVED OF **PROSTITUTION**, WOULD YOU TAKE HIS MONEY?" *Id.* (emphasis in original). The word "PROSTITUTION" was the focal point of the document. It appeared in the exact center of the graphic, displayed in bold white font – the largest font in the document – against the dark background. *Id.* By contrast, the qualifier "REPORTEDLY APPROVED OF" appeared in a smaller typeface and gray text. *Id.* The Petition's graphic concluded with a directive to "SIGN THE PETITION: TELL MITT ROMNEY TO STOP TAKING MONEY FROM SHELDON ADELSON." *Id.* 

Beneath the graphic, the Petition contained four paragraphs in smaller, black-on-white print, in which Defendants stated that "perhaps the most alarming aspect of Adelson's potentially unlimited contributions is *where the money comes from*." *Id*.<sup>3</sup> The Petition then elaborated that "reports" had just "surfaced that . . . **Adelson 'personally approved' of prostitution** 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Because a color copy may be useful to the court and the electronic filing process does not accommodate color filings, appellant respectfully requests that the court permit appellant to submit color copies of page 3 of the brief as part of the court record. Color copies have been mailed to the clerk of the court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> All emphases in quoted material have been added, unless otherwise stated.

**in his Macau casinos**." *Id.* (emphasis in original). "Given these reports," Defendants exhorted, "**Romney and the rest of the Republican Party must cease accepting Adelson's tainted money immediately**." *Id.* (emphasis in original). Defendants called on readers to "spread the word" by sharing the Petition via Facebook and "enlist[ing]" others "in the effort to stop the influence of Plaintiff's tainted money and protect our democracy." *Id.* 

Nowhere in the Petition did Defendants identify the source of their prostitution allegations. *See id*. At no point did the Petition purport to describe or mention any official proceeding. *See id*.

Instead, two paragraphs (and a full computer screen) below the emblazoned word "PROSTITUTION," Defendants embedded an internet hyperlink in the words "personally approved" when they asserted that Plaintiff "personally approved" of prostitution in his Macau casinos. JA38, JA131. The Petition did not ask the reader to open that link, nor did it tell the reader what he or she would find at the other end. JA38.

If a reader viewed the Petition on a device with internet access, scrolled down below the large-text color graphic to the smaller-print blackand-white section, and clicked on the two underscored words, the embedded hyperlink would have directed the reader to an Associated Press article on AP's website entitled "Sheldon Adelson Approved 'Prostitution Strategy': Fired Former Sands Executive" ("AP Article"). JA131. Because the Petition did not include either a reference to the AP Article or a "URL" that would enable a reader to find the article without clicking on the link Defendants provided (JA38), a reader who did not notice or was unable or unwilling to click on that link would not have had any idea on what basis Defendants had accused Plaintiff of personally approving prostitution.

The AP Article described an accusation against Plaintiff in a lawsuit brought by the former CEO of SCL, Steven Jacobs, who had been fired in 2010. JA29 ¶ 52. After SCL refused Jacobs' demand for millions of dollars, Jacobs filed suit in Nevada state court against SCL and LVSC, and later Plaintiff as well ("*Jacobs* litigation"). JA29 ¶¶ 53-55. In June 2012, Jacobs filed a declaration in the lawsuit in which he claimed that unnamed "LVSC Senior Executives informed me that [a] prostitution strategy had been personally approved by Adelson." JA30 ¶¶ 57, 60.<sup>4</sup>

After describing Jacobs' allegations, the AP Article noted that LVSC's counsel had described those allegations as "baseless" and "scurrilous" and stated that Jacobs had filed the allegations "only to sensationalize the case." JA131. LVSC's counsel also noted that Plaintiff "has always objected to and maintained a strong policy against prostitution." JA132.

Unlike the AP Article, Defendants' Petition did not disclose that the source of the prostitution allegations was hearsay allegations by a terminated employee who had filed a lawsuit against Plaintiff and LVSC. JA38. Nor did it disclose that Plaintiff had expressly denied the allegations in the press, or that he had not yet filed a formal response in the litigation. *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The ostensible purpose of the declaration was to support Jacobs' complaints about alleged deficiencies in LVSC's and SCL's responses to discovery requests Jacobs had served to bolster his claim that the Nevada court had personal jurisdiction over SCL. JA210-11. The *Jacobs* litigation (and the jurisdiction issue) remain pending before the district court. In August 2011, this Court issued a writ staying all issues other than jurisdiction (Case No. 58294), and since then it has entertained several other petitions for extraordinary writs regarding discovery.

**Defendants' Subsequent Press Release.** Other websites and the print media picked up on Defendants' allegations. JA27 ¶ 40. Shortly afterwards, Professor Alan Dershowitz, a Harvard Law School professor and a prominent Jewish Democrat, contacted Defendant Harris to "apprise him of the inaccurate, false and potentially defamatory accusation made by Defendants in the Petition." JA444 ¶ 6.<sup>5</sup> In that same conversation, Professor Dershowitz told Harris that Jacobs – the ultimate source of Defendants' allegations – had "written an email stating that he himself did not believe that Mr. Adelson had approved of prostitution." JA444 ¶¶ 6-7.

Notwithstanding Professor Dershowitz's disclosures, Defendants published a "Press Release" on July 11, 2012 on the NJDC website entitled "Statement Regarding NJDC's Sheldon Adelson Petition." JA27-28 ¶¶ 41, 44, JA43. Instead of retracting the Petition, Defendants reaffirmed that "[w]e stand by everything we said" and claimed that their Petition "was sourced from current, credible news accounts." JA43. Defendants stated that the "[a]ccusations against Mr. Adelson were made not by us, but by others, including Senator John McCain (R-AZ)," without distinguishing among the various "accusations" in the Petition or acknowledging that Jacobs was the sole source of the prostitution "accusations" at its heart. *Id.* After reaffirming "everything we said," Defendants declared that they were removing the Petition – not because it was false, but "in the interest of *shalom bayit* (peace in our home/community)." *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Although Professor Dershowitz had represented LVSC in other matters, he was not speaking as Plaintiff's lawyer. JA444 ¶ 10.

Defendants' Press Release did not identify the "credible news accounts" or cite (even by hyperlink) any other document. *Id.* Nor did the Press Release disclose that Jacobs, the unacknowledged source of the prostitution accusations, was a terminated employee and litigant who was known to be hostile to Plaintiff, or that Plaintiff had vehemently denied the allegations. *Id.* Finally, as with the Petition, Defendants' Press Release did not mention the *Jacobs* litigation, or any other legal proceeding. *Id.* 

On July 17, 2012, Plaintiff's counsel demanded a retraction. JA31 ¶ 68, JA48-50. The next day, LVSC and SCL filed a formal response to Jacobs' claims in the *Jacobs* litigation, which characterized Jacobs' accusations as "absurd" and stated that Plaintiff "regards prostitution as morally abhorrent." JA31 ¶ 69, JA331. The response included the actual email chain Jacobs had purported to describe in his 2012 Declaration. JA337-341. This evidence showed that (1) Jacobs acknowledged in an email that any corporate approval of prostitution would be "at odds with what I know to be [Plaintiff]'s 'no tolerance' policy"; and (2) LVSC's president found "no evidence" that Plaintiff or any other corporate executive had approved or tolerated prostitution. *Id*. Although news outlets reported on the response (JA31-32 ¶ 69, JA52-54), Defendants did not modify or retract their previous statements.

On August 2, 2012, the Democratic Congressional Campaign Committee, which had made accusations similar to Defendants' at or about the same time, retracted those statements, declaring that they were "untrue and unfair" and that it had been "wrong" to repeat them. JA32 ¶¶ 70-71, JA56. The Committee also "extend[ed] its sincere apology to Mr. Adelson and his family for any injury we have caused." JA56. Defendants, on the other hand, did not retract or modify their previous statements.

**Proceedings in Federal Court.** On August 8, 2012, Plaintiff filed a defamation complaint against Defendants in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York. JA21-56. In the Complaint, Plaintiff alleged that Jacobs' "prostitution" accusation was "unequivocally false" (JA30 ¶¶ 61-63) and that Defendants republished Jacobs' accusations with "reckless disregard" for their truth or falsity (JA33-34 ¶¶ 73-80, 86) and with "actual malice" and the "specific intent to cause harm" to Plaintiff (JA35 ¶¶ 88-89).

On September 21, 2012, Defendants filed a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) and the District of Columbia's "anti-SLAPP" statute. JA61-66. Seven months later, on April 23, 2013, Defendants filed a "special motion" to dismiss based on the *Nevada* anti-SLAPP statute (JA425-28) after the district court indicated it would likely apply Nevada law. Plaintiff opposed dismissal on numerous grounds.

On September 30, 2013, the district court granted Defendants' motion to dismiss the Complaint under Rule 12(b)(6), finding that some parts of the Petition were privileged as a "fair report" of a judicial proceeding while other portions were constitutionally protected opinion. SA27-28, SA30, SA38, SA56. The district court denied Defendants' motion under the D.C. anti-SLAPP statute, but granted their subsequent motion under the Nevada anti-SLAPP statute. SA56. As a result, Defendants have asked the district court to enter an award of over \$1 million in attorneys' fees against Plaintiff.

Plaintiff appealed. After briefing, argument, and supplemental briefing, the Second Circuit certified two "significant and unresolved questions of Nevada statutory and common law" to this Court: (1) whether Defendants' hyperlink sufficed to make their Petition a "fair report" under

Nevada law, and (2) whether Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute, prior to the most recent amendments in 2013, covered Defendants' statements even though they were not addressed to a government agency. Dec. 19, 2014 2d Cir. Order (Dkt. 132) at 2. "[B]ecause we are loath to decide a constitutional question in advance of the necessity of doing so," the Second Circuit deferred decision on whether Defendants' statements were constitutionally protected "opinion" and did not certify that issue. *Id.* at 7.

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

#### I.

Defendants' defamatory statements fall well outside Nevada's privilege for fair reports of official proceedings. Defendants' Petition falsely accused Plaintiff of donating "Dirty Money" from "PROSTITUTION" he "personally approved" in Macau casinos. The Petition was entirely devoid of any indication to the reader that it was a report of any kind, "fair" or otherwise, of any official proceeding. Its text did not mention any proceeding; indeed, Defendants' presentation affirmatively obscured the source of the prostitution accusations as neutral "reports" rather than allegations made by a fired ex-manager who was suing Plaintiff for millions.

Defendants' claim of privilege is based solely on the fact that buried deep within their Petition is an unexplained hyperlink to a newspaper article describing the ex-manager's lawsuit against Plaintiff. Defendants' hyperlink does not transform their defamatory statements into a report, let alone a "fair report," of the never-mentioned litigation between Jacobs and LVSC. Defendants' Petition did not give readers any direction to follow the link, or any explanation of what they would find if they did. Moreover, the format of Defendants' presentation was designed to further

obscure the link. No court has found a hyperlink alone sufficient to qualify a statement as a fair report. To the contrary, courts in other contexts have consistently found that such unexplained, obscured hyperlinks are ineffective as a form of notice.

Even if there could be some circumstances in which the addition of a hyperlink could bring a statement within the fair report privilege, this case is surely not one of them. Besides failing to indicate that their statement was any kind of report, Defendants' one-sided content, tone, and presentation are not the fair, accurate, and impartial report that Nevada law requires. To the contrary, the entire layout of the Petition makes undeniably clear that Defendants *intended* to convey the false message that Plaintiff's campaign contributions derived from prostitution – a message that can hardly be described as "fair and impartial." The Court should accordingly answer the first certified question in the negative.

#### II.

Prior to the October 2013 amendments, Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute did not apply to political speech unless it was directed to a government official. The statute's substantive provision was limited to the First Amendment's "right to petition" the government, and, unlike anti-SLAPP statutes in other States, it did not extend to the distinct right of free speech. This Court thoroughly reviewed the history and purpose of the statute in *John*, and concluded – repeatedly – that the statute applied only to petitions directed to the government.

The legislature amended the statute effective October 1, 2013, adding free speech to the rights protected, and adding a new category to the definition of protected communications. The plain text of the amendments shows, and the legislative history confirms, that these

amendments were a change to existing law, not a mere clarification as Defendants here contend. Accordingly, the Court should also answer the second certified question in the negative.

# ARGUMENT

# I. DEFENDANTS' ACCUSATIONS LINKING PLAINTIFF TO "PROSTITUTION" DO NOT QUALIFY FOR THE "FAIR REPORT" PRIVILEGE.

# A. Defendants' Statements Did Not "Report," Or Even Mention, Any Official Proceeding.

The general rules of defamation that control this appeal are well settled and widely accepted. Defendants' statement that Plaintiff's "money comes from" prostitution he "personally approved" in Macau casinos (JA38) is one that "'would tend to lower the subject in the estimation of the community, excite derogatory opinions about the subject, and hold the subject up to contempt." *Lubin v. Kunin*, 117 Nev. 107, 110, 17 P.3d 422, 425 (2001) (quoting *K-Mart Corp. v. Washington*, 109 Nev. 1180, 1191, 866 P.2d 274, 281-82 (1993)).

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