IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SHELDON G. ADELSON,)	Case No. 67120
Appellant,)	Electronically Filed Jun 03 2015 02:32 p.m Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Cour
VS.)	Olerk of Supreme Cour
)	
DAVID A. HARRIS; MARC R. STANLEY;)	
AND NATIONAL JEWISH DEMOCRATIC)	
COUNCIL,)	
Respondents.)	
)	
Certification from the United Sta	tes Cou	irt of Appeals

for the Second Circuit – Case No. 13-4173-cv

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

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

II. THE OPERATIVE ANTI-SLAPP STATUTE APPLIES TO SPEECH, LIKE THE PETITION, "AIMED AT PROCURING" AN "ELECTORAL ACTION, RESULT, OR OUTCOME."

Adelson ignores the plain language of the relevant provisions of Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute and their legislative history to argue that, "before October 1, 2013, Nevada was among the states with limited anti-SLAPP protection covering

only the right to petition the government." Br.24 (emphasis added). In fact, at all relevant times, the statute expressly defined the "right to petition" to include speech, like the Petition at issue here, aimed at "procuring any . . . electoral action, result or outcome," regardless of the audience to which such speech is directed, and that plain language has not been abrogated either by this Court or in subsequent statutory amendments.

A. The Plain Language and Legislative History of the Anti-SLAPP Act Confirm It Applies to the Petition.

As originally enacted in 1993, Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute included only one category of protected speech and *was* limited to communications directed at government officials. SA-50; *see also* JA-859-60 (excerpts of official legislative history of S.B. 405-1993). Specifically, the 1993 legislation afforded the statute's immunity only to those who "communicate[d] a complaint or information to a legislator, officer or employee" of a governmental agency. *Id*.

The law's scope was substantially broadened in 1997 when the legislature passed Assembly Bill 485 – 1997 ("A.B. 485") "to increase protection" from SLAPP suits by extending the statutory immunity to all those "involving themselves in public affairs." JA-863, 865 (excerpts of official legislative history of A.B. 485). The bill broadened the statute's scope by specifically defining the

²⁰ To explain the 1997 amendment's purpose, its sponsor placed in the legislative record newspaper reports illustrating the types of SLAPP suits the

"right to petition" protected by it to include not one, but *three* separate categories of speech. JA-865-66, 870. Thus, as amended in 1997, the statute expressly defines the "right to petition" to include any:

- 1. Communication that is aimed at procuring any governmental or electoral action, result or outcome;
- 2. Communication of information or a complaint to a Legislator, officer or employee of the Federal Government, this state or a political subdivision of this state, regarding a matter reasonably of concern to the respective governmental entity; or
- 3. Written or oral statement made in direct connection with an issue under consideration by a legislative, executive or judicial body, or any other official proceeding authorized by law.

SA-43 (quoting NRS § 41.637); *see also* JA-863, 865-66, 870. In the amended statute, therefore, the phrase "right to petition" is a "term of art defined in the three prongs," each of which is set out disjunctively, using the connector "or." SA-43-45. The original, narrow protection for direct communications to government officials became prong 2 – just one of the "three classes of petitions protected by the statute." *John*, 125 Nev. at 761, 219 P.3d at 1286.

amendment was designed to prevent. JA-874-91 (articles submitted as "Exhibit C"). Those articles described, among others, lawsuits brought by the Church of Scientology against Internet-based publications critical of the Church, JA-889-90, as well as *Immuno A.G. v. Moor-Jankowski*, 567 N.E.2d 1270 (N.Y. 1991), a defamation action premised on articles published in scientific journals, JA-885-86. The Assembly Judiciary Committee's Vice-Chair explained that "the

information provided in Exhibit C [provides] good examples of the types of actions that should be stopped." JA-871.

In passing the Assembly's version of the amendment, the legislature specifically rejected an alternate Senate bill ("S.B. 331") that would have continued to limit anti-SLAPP immunity to speech "aimed at procuring favorable government action," while expanding such immunity slightly to include such efforts when made either through a direct communication to a government official or "in a place open to the public or in a public forum." JA-902-03 (excerpts of official legislative history of SB 331-1997). The Senate committee's counsel offered as an example "a statement made to a newspaper, if it was the same statement made to a public body, as long as it was genuinely aimed at procuring favorable government action." JA-915 (emphasis added). This bill was passed by the Senate, JA-914-16, and referred to the Assembly Committee on the Judiciary, which was then considering A.B. 485. The chairman noted that the Senate bill was "not as strong" as the "much stronger piece of legislation" being considered by the Assembly. JA-922. Accordingly, the committee resolved to "amend S.B. 331" to incorporate all of the provisions of A.B. 485. *Id.* The amended version of S.B. 331, which included all three prongs of A.B. 485, JA-923-26, was passed by the Assembly on July 2, 1997, JA-927-28. Following the recommendation of a joint conference committee, JA-929-30, the Senate approved the broader version of what then became the revised anti-SLAPP law, JA-931-32. As the federal district court noted, this legislative history demonstrates that the 1997 amendment was

designed to "expand the Anti-SLAPP statute to reach beyond communications made to a government agency." SA-51.

In addition, because the amended statute requires a direct communication to a government official only for the second protected class, and not for the first and third (which apply broadly to speech that is either aimed at achieving governmental or electoral results, or is directly related to an issue under consideration by the government), fundamental rules of statutory construction confirm that no such limitation restricts the scope of prongs 1 or 3. See Richardson Constr., Inc. v. Clark Cnty. Sch. Dist., 123 Nev. 61, 64, 156 P.3d 21, 23 (2007) (court "may look no further than any unambiguous, plain statutory language"). Reading such a requirement into prongs 1 and 3 where none exists in their text would render them entirely redundant of prong 2, see Savage v. Pierson, 123 Nev. 86, 89, 157 P.3d 697, 699 (2007) ("Whenever possible, 'we construe statutes such that no part of the statute is rendered nugatory or turned to mere surplusage."), and would undo the legislature's intent to expand the statute's protections beyond the 1993 Act's limited immunity. Indeed, unless only government officials vote in elections or the statute is read only to protect appeals to government officials to cast *their* ballots for a given candidate, it cannot reasonably be construed to apply solely to statements directed to such officials.

As the federal district court recognized, "the Petition and Press Release were patently partisan statements made by a Democratic organization to Democratic-leaning voters in an effort to undermine Republican candidates' financial support." SA-44. Thus, that court correctly determined, "[i]t strains credulity to argue that such communications are not aimed at procuring an action, result or outcome relating to an election." *Id.* Although the Second Circuit certified the question, it was otherwise inclined to agree, asserting that, because the Petition "sought to influence an election, . . . it would seem to fall under the first prong according to the plain text of the then-existing statute." Order at 12. As defendants explain below, none of Adelson's contentions otherwise withstand reasonable scrutiny.

B. Adelson Misreads John v. Douglas County School District.

To overcome the statute's plain meaning and legislative history, Adelson is compelled to place great weight on passing language in this Court's decision in *John v. Douglas County School District* to the effect that "'[t]he anti-SLAPP statute *only protects citizens who petition the government from civil liability arising from good-faith communications to a government agency.*" Br.26 (quoting *John*, 125 Nev. at 753, 219 P.3d at 1281). This quotation, and other analogous statements in *John*, must be read in the context of what was before this Court for decision in that case. When it is, there can be little doubt that, as the federal district court recognized, the "natural reading of the case is that the court

was simply expounding upon the second prong, and was unconcerned with the first and third prongs." SA-46.

Specifically, in *John*, the plaintiff was a former security officer for a school district who sued district employees for statements they made to other government agents in the course of an official investigation of his conduct. 125 Nev. at 751, 219 P.3d at 1280. The defendants' direct communications with those officials involved in the investigation were the only statements at issue in *John* and, as a result, this Court spoke only to the availability of the statutory immunity provided under prong 2 (where such direct communications are required). See id. at 761, 219 P.3d at 1286 ("The second class of protected petitions applies to all political subdivisions of Nevada . . . which includes school districts."); see also SA-46 ("The defendants sought to dismiss the action under the Nevada Anti-SLAPP statute on the ground that the statements were protected under the second prong as communications to the school district regarding a matter of reasonable concern – an employee's misconduct.").

Admittedly, lower courts considering prong 3 of the anti-SLAPP statute have since divided on the import of the referenced language in *John* – language the Second Circuit ultimately found to be "ambiguous" enough to warrant certification. Order at 13 ("[W]e cannot be sure whether 'communications to a government agency' is also emphasized for the simple reason that the

communication in *John* involved the second prong of the statute, and *only* that prong, or whether this language was meant to impose a more general limitation."). Some trial courts have read the language as meaning that the statute as a whole "only protects citizens who petition a government agency." E.g., Buckwalter v. Wey, 2010 WL 2609100, at *3 (D. Nev. June 24, 2010). Others have followed the statute's plain terms and continued to apply prong 3 to speech not directed to the government. See, e.g., Rebel Commc'ns, LLC v. Virgin Valley Water Dist., 2012 WL 934301, at *1-2 (D. Nev. Mar. 20, 2012) (citing *John*, 125 Nev. at 755, 219 P.3d at 1282, but finding that speech "outside of public meetings," including "public statements," fall under prong 3, as "statement[s] made in direct connection with an issue under consideration by a legislative, executive or judicial body") (citation omitted); Archey v. Nelson, 2010 WL 3711513, at *4 (Churchill Cnty. Dist. Ct. Aug. 10, 2010) (citing *John*, 125 Nev. 746, 219 P.3d 1276, and applying prong 3 to news report because "legislature made it clear that their intent was to also apply the protections afforded by this legislation to news media accounts when they publish an article that directly pertains to a matter under consideration by a governmental body").

Especially given the statute's plain meaning and legislative history, these latter courts, as well as the federal district court in this case, have it right. In short, there is no indication in *John* that this Court was reaching out to decide an issue

that was not before it about provisions of the statute that were not at issue in the case. Construed in context, the only reasonable construction of the language in *John* upon which Adelson relies is that it was directed solely at prong 2, the only statutory provision at issue in the case and the only one that requires a communication directed to the government.²¹

C. The 2013 Amendments to the Anti-SLAPP Statute Confirm Its Pre-Amendment Scope.

Finally, Adelson's claim that the 2013 amendments "were not a clarification but an expansion" of the statute's reach, Br.28, has already been rejected by this Court in two unpublished decisions, and for good reason. As their plain language and legislative history confirm, the 2013 amendments *both* expanded the statute's reach to protect all speech relating to matters of "public concern" – not just speech concerning elections (prong 1) and matters pending before governmental bodies (prong 3) – *and* clarified that such speech, including the categories protected by

and the issue may therefore properly be considered on its merits in this case unencumbered by principles of *stare decisis*. *E.g.*, *Argentena Consol. Mining Co. v. Jolley Urga Wirth Woodbury & Standish*, 125 Nev. 527, 536, 216 P.3d 779, 785 (2009) ("A statement in a case is dictum when it is 'unnecessary to a determination of the questions involved.") (citation omitted); *First Fin. Bank v. Lee*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 96, 339 P.3d 1289, 1292-93 (2014) (en banc) (Court not limited by language from prior decision "seize[d] on" by a respondent, where relevant issue of statutory interpretation had not been "squarely presented" in earlier case); *see also ASAP Storage, Inc. v. City of Sparks*, 123 Nev. 639, 651-55, 173 P.3d 734, 743-44 (2007) (Court properly revisits interpretations that "deviate from [a statute's] plain language").

prongs 1 and 3, does *not* need to be directed to a government agency or official to qualify for the statute's protection.²²

Indeed, an express purpose of SB 286-2013 was to remedy what the legislature perceived to be an erroneous construction of the statute by a federal appellate court – the same construction that Adelson advocates here. As the bill's sponsor explained, "[i]n a recent decision, the 9th Circuit Court of Appeals held that the anti-SLAPP provisions of Chapter 41 only protect communications made directly to a governmental agency. . . . I am introducing Senate Bill 268 to resolve those limitations." *Opening Remarks: Senate Comm. on Judiciary*, 77th Sess., (Mar. 28, 2013) (statement of Sen. Justin Jones); *Senate Comm. on Judiciary*, 77th Sess. (Mar. 28, 2013) Minutes at 3 (Sen. Justin Jones: "The purpose of S.B. 286 is to address concerns raised by the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals with regard to NRS41."); *see also* 2013 Nev. Sess. Laws Ch. 176 (S.B. 286), 77th Sess., Legislative Counsel's Digest at ¶2 ("The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals recently

²² Specifically, the statute was amended to protect, in addition to the speech previously referenced in prongs 1 through 3, communications made "in direct connection with an issue of public concern in a place open to the public or in a public forum." NRS § 41.637(1). As anti-SLAPP expert Marc Randazza testified, newly enacted prong 4 expands the statute to "*all* speech about matters of public concern," including, for example, Yelp and Avvo reviews. Senate Comm. on Judiciary, 77th Sess., Mar. 28, 2013 Exhibit D (Marc Randazza Testimony). This Court has indicated, albeit in an unpublished decision, that prong 4 does not apply retroactively to communications made prior to the 2013 amendments. *Doe v. Brown*, No. 62752, slip op. at 2 n.1 (Nev. May 29, 2015); *see infra* note 26.

held that the provisions of NRS concerning such lawsuits only protect communications made directly to a governmental agency."). 23

It is well settled that, "[w]here a former statute is amended, or a doubtful interpretation of a former statute [is] rendered certain by subsequent legislation . . . such amendment is persuasive evidence of what the Legislature intended by the first statute." *In re Christensen*, 122 Nev. 1309, 1319, 149 P.3d 40, 47 (2006) (quoting *Sheriff v. Smith*, 91 Nev. 729, 734, 542 P.2d 440, 443 (1975)). As this Court has explained:

[W]hen a statute's "doubtful interpretation" is made clear through subsequent legislation, we may consider the subsequent legislation persuasive evidence of what the Legislature originally intended.

Pub. Emps.' Benefits Program v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't ("PEBP"), 124Nev. 138, 157, 179 P.3d 542, 554-55 (2008).

In *PEBP*, this Court noted that the extensive amendments to the public employee pension statute at issue were, in part, a direct response to the defendant police department's erroneous interpretation of the previous statute. *Id.* This Court held that the amendment showed that the "doubtful interpretation" by the defendant was contrary to the intent of the original statute. *Id.* Similarly, in this

²³ In fact, the referenced case, *Metabolic Research, Inc. v. Ferrell*, did *not* actually hold that the statute is limited to direct communications to a government agency; it did, however, note that the *district court* in that case had so concluded. 693 F.3d 795, 798 (9th Cir. 2012). The Ninth Circuit dismissed that interlocutory appeal for lack of jurisdiction without reaching the merits of the case or otherwise opining on the statute's scope. *Id.* at 796-77.

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